DOPSR 25-P-0111

REVIEWED BY DOD

DEFENSE OFFICE OF PREPUBLICATION AND OFFICE OF SECURITY REVIEW

NO CLASSIFIED INFORMATION FOUND

AY 2023-2024

Dec 06, 2024

A CALCULATED INTERVENTION: PRACTICAL ACTIONS TO REVITALIZE THE U.S. MARITIME INDUSTRY

The appearance of external hyperlinks does not constitute endorsement by the United States Department of Defense (DoD) of the linked websites, or the information, products or services contained therein. The DoD does not exercise any editorial, security, or other control over the information you may find at these locations.

ES 6700: Industry Studies – manume

CAPT John Dettleff, USCG

SEMINAR 20





The Dwight D. Eisenhower School for National Security and Resource Strategy National Defense University Fort McNair, Washington, DC 20319-5062

The views expressed in this paper are those of the authors and do not reflect the official policy or position of the National Defense University, Department of Defense, or U.S. Government.

INDUSTRY STUDY MEMBERS AND FACULTY

Students

Mr. Gregory Blewett, U.S. Coast Guard Mr. John (Mike) Cornwell, Defense Acquisition University Lt. Col. Steven Green Jr., U.S. Air Force CDR Corydon Heard IV, U.S. Coast Guard CAPT Ruzman Mat, Malaysia Navy Mr. Pedro Pla-Davila, U.S. Department of State Mr. James Platner, U.S. Coast Guard LTC Crystal Provencher, U.S. Army Reserve Mr. Scott Robinson, U.S. Department of State CDR William Spears, U.S. Navy Ms. Corinne Wentworth, U.S. Department of the Navy COL Didiet Wijaya, Indonesia Marines

Faculty

CAPT John Dettleff, U.S. Coast Guard, Faculty Lead CAPT Peter Galindez, U.S. Navy, Faculty Deputy Lead Mr. Robert Henke, Faculty Mr. Luis Perez, Defense Intelligence Agency, Faculty

FIELD STUDIES



GUEST SPEAKERS

- RADM (ret) Bruce Baffer, USCG, Senior Vice President, American Bureau of Shipbuilding
- Polar Security Cutter Integrated Program Office, Program Manager CAPT Eric Drey, USCG
- Mr. Jim "Hondo" Geurts, fmr. Assistant Secretary of the Navy for Research, Development, and Acquisition (ASN RDA)
- Mr. John Graykowski, Government and Regulatory Advisor, Philly Shipyard
- Mr. Ronald O'Rourke, Naval Analyst, Congressional Research Service
- Dr. Andrew Taffer, Institute for National Strategic Studies (INSS)
- Mr. Tom Wetherald, fmr. Director of Business Development and Strategic Planning, GD-NASSCO

LOCAL FIELD STUDIES

- Center for Strategic and International Studies (CSIS), Washington, DC
- HII-Newport News Shipbuilding (HII-NNS), Newport News, VA
- Naval Surface Warfare Center (NSWC) Carderock, Bethesda, MD
- SubCom LLC, Baltimore, MD
- Supervisor of Shipbuilding, Conversion and Repair (SUPSHIP), Newport News, VA
- U.S. Coast Guard Yard, Baltimore, MD
- U.S. Navy, Naval Research Laboratory (NRL), Washington, DC
- U.S. Navy, Naval Sea Systems Command (NAVSEA), PEO Strategic Submarines Executive Director Mr. Matt Sermon, Washington, DC
- U.S. Navy, Naval Sea Systems Command (NAVSEA), Constellation Class Frigate Deputy Program Manager, Washington, DC

CONUS FIELD STUDIES

Pennsylvania

- Cleveland-Cliffs Inc, Coatesville, PA
- Philly Shipyard Inc, Philadelphia, PA
- Rhoads Industries Inc, Philadelphia, PA
- SS United States Conservatory, Philadelphia, PA

Wisconsin

- Fairbanks Morse Defense, Beloit, WI
- Fincantieri Marinette Marine, Marinette, WI

Gulf Coast

- Austal USA, Mobile, AL
- Bollinger Lockport, Lockport, LA
- Bollinger Mississippi, Pascagoula, MS
- Edison Chouest Offshore Companies (ECO), Houma, LA
- Ingalls Shipbuilding, Pascagoula, MS
- Ocean Aero, Gulfport, MS
- Supervisor of Shipbuilding, Conversion and Repair (SUPSHIP), Pascagoula, MS

California Gold Coast

- Austal USA, National City, CA
- BAE Systems Ship Repair, San Diego, CA
- Continental Maritime San Diego (CMSD), San Diego, CA
- Defense Innovation Unit (DIU), Mountain View, CA
- Mare Island Dry Dock (MIDD), Vallejo, CA
- Southwest Regional Maintenance Center (SWRMC), San Diego, CA

INTERNATIONAL FIELD STUDIES

Canada

• Chantier Davie Canada Inc, Québec, Canada

Denmark

- Joint Arctic Command (JACO), Copenhagen, Denmark
- Maersk Inc, Copenhagen, Demark
- Odense Maritime Technology (OMT), Copenhagen, Denmark

Finland

- ABB Azipod, Helsinki, Finland
- Aker Arctic Technology Inc, Helsinki, Finland
- Arctia, Helsinki, Finland
- Finland Border Guard, Helsinki, Finland
- Helsinki Shipyard, Helsinki, Finland

Norway

- Norwegian Navy Operations Centre, Haakonsvern Naval Base
- Underway Norwegian Coast Guard vessel HNoMS Thor Heyerdahl
- Norwegian Maritime Competence Center (Blue Maritime Cluster), Alesund, Norway
- Vard Langsten Tomrefjord, Vestnes, Norway

Contents

Executive Summaryi
Introduction1
Strategic Conditions1
SECTION I: STATE OF THE U.S. MARITIME INDUSTRY
Industry Analysis3
Stakeholder Perspectives6
SECTION II: RECOMMENDATIONS 10
Line of Effort One: Reinvigorate Commercial Maritime12
Line of Effort Two: Friendshoring20
Conclusion
APPENDIX A: COMPETITOR MARITIME INDUSTRY ANALYSIS
The PRC Shipbuilding and Repair IndustryA-1
The Russian Shipbuilding and Repair IndustryA-5
NOTES:I

Executive Summary

Developed by a multidisciplinary Seminar of twelve students, including senior officers from a variety of military services as well as career government civilians, this report constitutes a collective effort to evaluate and provide recommendations for the U.S. maritime industry. Supporting the analysis are the Seminar's combined professional expertise as well as insights gathered from guest speakers and field studies at various U.S. and international shipbuilders and supporting firms. The Seminar's comprehensive analysis aims to address the critical challenges faced by the U.S. maritime industry and propose strategic recommendations to enhance its global competitiveness and national security role.

The U.S. maritime industry is currently unable to meet the strategic demands of national security in three primary areas: (1) the affordability and timely delivery of capable ships, (2) the capacity to escalate production in response to contingencies, and (3) the resilience to sustain operations amid international shocks. These deficiencies stem from a range of systemic issues within the industry, including an aging infrastructure, a shortage of skilled labor, over-reliance on outdated manufacturing paradigms, and restrictive sourcing policies. Supported by Porter's Diamond analytical model, the Seminar's investigation reveals that the U.S. maritime industry, while historically robust, has contracted significantly due to globalization, de-industrialization, and consolidation within the defense sector. The industry is predominantly defense-oriented, with 99 percent of its output serving the U.S. government. This disparity has abetted a lack of competitiveness in commercial shipbuilding, which is generally preserved only through protectionist policies.

Key issues highlighted include a severe labor shortage, particularly in skilled trades, which is a society-wide problem affecting all industries. The industry also suffers from a consolidated supplier base, which limits competition and innovation. This is further complicated by 'Buy American' policies that simultaneously support domestic industries but restrict the sourcing of essential materials to manufacturers, leading to increased costs and delays. Finally, most shipbuilders possess an aging infrastructure of high-capital facilities and processes, which frustrates efforts to modernize and innovate.

In response to these challenges, the Seminar has proposed several policy recommendations aimed at revitalizing the U.S. maritime industry. Among dozens of potentially viable options, these were selected based on their perceived potential for payoff as well as their mutual compatibility as part of a coordinated plan. The recommendations are broadly framed as **two "lines of effort," associated with the commercial maritime industry and U.S. allies and partners respectively.** While these recommendations are binned together for efficiency of presentation, they all work together and each would be beneficial if implemented independently.

The problems of the U.S. maritime industry are complex and will require substantial effort and resourcing to overcome. There is no cure-all waiting to be discovered, but there are available options that can make a difference with strategic impact. By addressing the challenges described in this report, particularly as suggested in the policy recommendations, the U.S. can place its maritime industry on a competitive footing to not only meet the demands of national security but also to strengthen the U.S.'s position as a global standard-bearer in maritime affairs.

Introduction

The United States faces significant challenges from global competitors, particularly the People's Republic of China (PRC), in a variety of strategic domains. Of particular relevance to this strategic competition is the shipbuilding and repair industry, hereafter referred to as the maritime industry. Responsible for constructing and maintaining the civilian fleets that create economic prosperity as well as the naval fleets that protect it, the industry constitutes a national treasure whose responsibility vastly exceeds its resources. Today it faces significant headwinds, with both internal and external problems surmountable only through a concerted national effort. The report that follows will examine these issues, offering strategic insights and policy recommendations to reinforce the U.S. maritime industry's role as a pillar of the U.S. economy and national security.

Strategic Conditions

Since its founding, the U.S. has depended upon maritime activities—both on the sea and from the sea—for security and economic prosperity. Now it stands at a critical juncture as a maritime nation, facing challenges that span economic, diplomatic, environmental, and military dimensions. Central to the strategic landscape is the "pacing challenge" of the PRC, recognized as such in the U.S. National Security Strategy.¹ The PRC's illegal maritime claims, grey zone activities, and overtly hostile actions against U.S. allies and partners threaten fundamental principles of maritime freedom and open access, which are cornerstones of global trade and economic stability. Its extensive state investment in its shipbuilding industry, now at 232 times the

capacity of the U.S., directly challenges U.S. influence on the norms and standards of maritime activity.² The disparity not only underscores a severe economic imperative but also highlights vulnerabilities in supply chain resilience and military balance.

Concurrently, Russia, primarily acting as an agent of disruption, extends its contrarian influence into the maritime sector, particularly in the Arctic. The Kremlin's formidable icebreaker fleet and assertive Arctic strategy signal intent to dominate resource-rich polar regions and exploit newly viable shipping lanes. Meanwhile, an energy-hungry PRC seeks to expand its polar capabilities in concert with Russia as an energy extractor. This alignment challenges the U.S. strategic position in a variety of critical regions, not only threatening economic interests but also necessitating a serious reassessment of both military and nonmilitary capabilities.

The U.S. maritime industry struggles to answer these challenges. Its response is frustrated by internal problems such as aging infrastructure, a nationwide shortage of skilled labor, and an over-reliance upon outdated manufacturing paradigms. These issues are compounded by a contraction in domestic maritime commerce and consolidation within defense industries. Some analysts suggest that we are in the early stages of what will ultimately become recognized as a third world war, where maritime capability will critically determine the trajectory of international power.³ The U.S. maritime industry, therefore, is not just contending with economic competition but is also at the forefront of a broader strategic contest that will define the future of global order.

SECTION I: STATE OF THE U.S. MARITIME INDUSTRY

Industry Analysis

In light of the strategic demand signal described above, the Seminar distilled the national security imperatives of the U.S. maritime industry to three critical needs:

- 1. Affordable and capable ships that are delivered on schedule,
- 2. Capacity to escalate production as contingencies require, and
- 3. Resilience to sustain capacity amid shocks to the international system.

The above are presented in order of priority, i.e. one cannot escalate production in wartime if one cannot answer a baseline demand in peacetime, and one cannot sustain capacity amid shocks if there is not first capacity to sustain. As it stands today, the U.S. maritime industry is incapable of meeting any of the above needs. To explain why, the following pages characterize the U.S. maritime industry, as considered via the Porter's Diamond model of competitive advantage (Figure (1)).⁴ For comparison, similar analyses of the respective maritime industries of the PRC and Russia are provided in Appendix A.

Despite a proud and storied history, the U.S. maritime industry has steadily contracted due to the confluence of globalization, de-industrialization, and defense industry consolidation.⁵ It currently operates as an oligopoly – 99 percent of output is attributable to defense.⁶ As will be explained in Line of Effort One, U.S. commercial shipbuilding is not internationally competitive; it only serves domestic needs as sustained by protectionist policies. For shipbuilders, then, a focus on the effective sole customer of the U.S. government generally dulls innovation excepting that which

benefits military needs; in other words, "the lure of the huge U.S. defense market has diverted the attention of U.S. companies from attractive, global commercial markets."⁷



Figure 1: Porter's Diamond Analysis of the U.S. Maritime Industry

Factor Conditions.

The U.S. is an expensive place to build ships. Its population comprises a highly educated, highly paid workforce; further, strict environmental regulations compound risks and expenses for shipbuilders. Entry into the market requires a shipyard (i.e. land with coastal access) and the associated high-capital facilities, heavy cranes, and drydocks. While the U.S. offers plentiful access to investment capital, shipbuilding involves a lengthy acquisition process with long contracting and production timelines; specifically, the average time between contract award and delivery is between four and seven years, prolonging returns on investment.⁸

Shipbuilding is labor-intensive and necessitates a specialized workforce with diverse technical skills such as tradespeople, machinists, and engineers. The U.S. faces a nationwide labor shortage, particularly in skilled trades.⁹ For example, the Electric Boat division of General Dynamics (GD) hired 20% less than their yearly goal in 2022 despite over \$1 billion in workforce development and recruitment efforts between 2018 and 2022.¹⁰ The President of the Shipbuilders Council of America has identified

"the ability to attract and retain a quality workforce" as the largest issue facing the shipyards, and this sentiment was echoed by every shipbuilder visited by the Seminar.¹¹ Immigration offers little relief, as citizenship requirements prevent its use in defense manufacturing.

Demand Conditions.

Firms gain competitive advantages when customers are sophisticated and demanding, as higher standards provoke innovation and modernization.¹² The largest "American shipyards are wholly reliant on their biggest customer: the U.S. military," which is a highly demanding customer.¹³ However, excessive bureaucracy encumbers government shipbuilding, discouraging innovation. Further, government officials frequently alter requirements and become enamored with flashy concepts of dubious merit. For example, naval planners invested years in programs like the Littoral Combat Ship and Zumwalt-class destroyer, which are generally considered failures today, constituting what analysts call a lost generation of shipbuilding.¹⁴

Related and Supporting Industries.

Next to labor, shipbuilders point to supply shortages as the second-most limiting constraint to capacity. "Buy American" policies require shipbuilders to source of key materials from domestic suppliers; however, the U.S. represents less than 1% of global commercial shipbuilding by tonnage, resulting in a limited number of firms in the supplier base and many single-source providers.^{15,16} Like the wider defense industry, the supplier base has also consolidated. For example, traditional engine manufacturer Fairbanks Morse underwent a "buying streak" to acquire a variety of ship equipment lines, becoming the sole source for numerous components.¹⁷ Representatives of

Continental Maritime San Diego remarked upon this practice, commenting that consolidation has left "no good vendors" and a "lack of parts" for ship repairs. They specifically observed that Fairbanks Morse now unilaterally controls delivery timelines, forcing the ship repair plans to conform to supplier schedules.¹⁸ As White House officials have noted, "When there is insufficient competition, dominant firms can use their market power to charge higher prices, offer decreased quality," and further, control delivery timelines.¹⁹

Firm Strategy, Structure, and Rivalry.

Rivalry is a powerful stimulus to create and sustain competitive advantages. However, the high specialization amongst naval shipbuilders – with a near guarantee for follow-on orders – is the antithesis of competition, eliminating the prospect of legitimate internal rivalry. The U.S. maritime industry therefore does not operate under significant pressure to innovate and improve. Firms are instead "hooked on the narcotic of government contracts...[and] creeping industry protectionism," as Michael Porter warned.²⁰ The introduction to Section II includes additional insight into the matter of shipyard modernization.

Stakeholder Perspectives.

Before considering what "we" can do to address the ails of U.S. shipbuilding and repair, it is essential to recognize that the industry entails numerous stakeholders with often competing priorities. Again, from the national security perspective, what "we" presumably want are affordable and capable ships that are delivered on schedule, surge capacity, and resilience. Other stakeholders do not necessarily share those priorities, and where interests overlap they do not necessarily agree on the best way to pursue them. An industry is comprised not just of stakeholders but of the agreements among them, so what follows is a summary of the industry's competing perspectives to inform the recommendations that follow.

Shipbuilding and Repair Firms.

Shipyard owners construct new ships, repair, convert, and alter previously built ships and produce or prefabricate ship modules in sections.²¹ While there are 404 participating firms operating in the industry today, over 57% of the market share belongs to three defense primes—Huntington Ingalls Industries (HII), GD, and BAE.^{22,23} Shipbuilders must therefore account for a departure from perfect competition when crafting their business strategies.²⁴ Their interests principally include the maximization of shareholder wealth, while delivering employment benefits to their workforce or value to their customers are secondary or sometimes competing interests. Shipbuilding firms especially desire a robust backlog of orders – "more ships are always better."²⁵ Similarly, repair firms look to maximize utilization of their capital-intensive facilities like drydocks.²⁶ Firms advocate for their interests in various ways, including larger firms' use of lobbyists and associations such as the Shipbuilders Council of America or the Port of San Diego Ship Repair Association.^{27, 28}

U.S. Government Agencies.

In 2023, Secretary of the Navy (SECNAV) Carlos Del Toro convened an inaugural meeting of the Government Shipbuilding Council that represented four different departments – Defense, Transportation, Homeland Security, and Commerce—each of whom have distinctive roles and varying interests in the maritime industry.²⁹ The Department of Defense (DOD), specifically, procures the preponderance of U.S.-built

ships by both tonnage and revenue, with other departments also significantly contributing through procurements for the Coast Guard, Maritime Association (MARAD), National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA), and National Science Foundation (NSF). Their interests include affordability, schedule, and value (i.e. capability), with supply chain resiliency and surge capacity as distant secondary priorities.

Congress.

Through its legislative powers, Congress authorizes and appropriates resources for the construction and repair of ships across the federal government. Shipbuilding represents such a prominent factor in spending that major budgetary committees are "dominated by lawmakers from shipbuilding communities."³⁰ Despite an ostensible interest in representing the taxpayer, Congress frequently appropriates more ships than what the Navy or Coast Guard propose via budget requests. For example, Congress added funding on 41 occasions over the last 10 years to increase battle-force ship quantities above the Navy's request.³¹ Similarly, for the Coast Guard's National Security Cutter program, Congress increased the program from the original quantity of 8 to 11 ships (and appropriated long-lead-time material funds for a 12th that the Coast Guard returned). Interfering with the details of shipbuilding and repair plans (adding ships, prohibiting divestments) serves Congressional interests by funneling resources to their districts, which is then met with voter approval.

Shipyard Employees and Labor Unions.

The U.S. maritime industry – not including subcontractors and domestic suppliers – collectively employs 115,000 personnel.³² Ingalls Shipbuilding has over 7,000

employees alone.³³ Shipbuilding and repair are highly labor-intensive, with wages constituting the second-largest expense for shipbuilders.³⁴ Many shipyard workers' interests are represented in the form of labor unions, who negotiate collective bargaining agreements, support workers' rights and safety, and agitate to improve wages and benefits for shipyard employees.

Supporting Industries and Supply Chain.

Supporting industries and suppliers form a discrete and essential stakeholder group within the U.S. maritime industry. These include firms that provide critical services and materials, such as design, engineering, and production of steel or finished goods like electronics, engines, and safety equipment. Like shipbuilders, supporting firms (including critical suppliers) are primarily interested in maximizing the wealth of their owners and shareholders. This leads them to sometimes make short-term decisions with long-term ramifications upon the greater industry; for example, "many producers slashed production as manufacturing capacity fell during the pandemic and struggled to match demand as the economy reopened."³⁵ In a recent announcement that forecasts more than 11 years of cumulative delays to Navy shipbuilding programs, the Navy and industry cited the post-pandemic supply chain as a key contributor.³⁶

Commercial Ship Owners and Operators.

Although defense-related shipbuilding overshadows commercial shipbuilding by a wide margin, the commercial maritime industry is of significant interest to national security for both economic and military reasons.³⁷ As independent stakeholders in domestic shipbuilding and repair, commercial ship owners and operators are essentially customers; as such, their interests lie principally in affordability. Much like shipbuilding and repair, ship operators are also significantly impacted by wage growth and the shortage in skilled trades. Most U.S.-flagged commercial shipping subsists today as a result of protectionist measures, which will be discussed along with the national security significance of commercial maritime activity in Line of Effort One below.

SECTION II: RECOMMENDATIONS

In considering ways forward for the maritime industry, the Seminar examined dozens of potential policy recommendations before paring down to two general categories of action, framed as "lines of effort" below. This required the omission of numerous viable options, many of which offered promise but exceeded the scope of this report. In eliminating candidates for recommendation, the Seminar sought to avoid suggestions that are already widely discussed or that merely reframe a common grievance as a solution (e.g. Congress should discontinue the practice of resourcing via continuing resolution). Instead, the Seminar focused on those recommendations that offer the best ratio of potential payoff to feasibility, and specifically those that work best when considered in concert.

Some rejected candidates merit explanation. For example, SECNAV has repeatedly chastised shipbuilders for neglecting to modernize their facilities, and likewise, automation is frequently cited as an underutilized solution to labor shortages.³⁸ Accordingly, the Seminar investigated several options to incentivize shipbuilder innovation and modernization. What was found is that numerous programs already exist to incentivize shipbuilder modernizations, such as Navy ManTech, the National Shipbuilding Research Program (NSRP), and the MARAD Small Shipyard Grant Program. These are met with mixed success (Figure (2)) and sometimes result in

marginal improvements to efficiency and affordability. In general, though, shipbuilders understand their own industry and are independently motivated to modernize when the business case exists, such that those remaining cases where government incentives might influence the decision are unlikely to achieve a payoff that significantly abates problems of affordability and capacity.



Figure 2: Installed at Bollinger Lockport through funding from the NSRP, the CAR-W robot was ultimately found unsuitable for Bollinger's processes. It now sits idle, its work again performed by manual laborers, at a loss of millions to both Bollinger and the U.S. Government.

Another rejected line of potential recommendations that bears explanation are those specifically targeting the labor shortage. When asked by the Seminar what would be the next-most limiting factor if their labor issues were miraculously resolved, a shipbuilder answered that it would be the capacity of their critical suppliers... who are crippled by their own labor issues.³⁹ The anecdote illustrates that the shortage of skilled labor is a nationwide problem extending well beyond the maritime industry and that its resolution will also extend well beyond the maritime industry. It will ultimately depend on the adjustment of wages in response to market forces and, potentially, changes to immigration policy. In the meantime, government stakeholders should focus on what can be done better today, such that shipbuilders will invest in their workforces or modernizations as appropriate to local conditions. In other words, the Seminar takes a "bottom-up" view of industry solutions, where necessities like modernization or labor are appropriately viewed as means to an end.

Line of Effort One: Reinvigorate Commercial Maritime The Value Proposition.

The commercial maritime industry is of vital importance to U.S. national security. Its relevance extends far beyond the facilitation of seaborne trade and resource extraction. It is also essential to military readiness, particularly through its contribution to the sealift capabilities necessary to deploy and sustain combat forces worldwide. Further, the symbiotic relationship between commercial and military shipbuilding is particularly relevant amid elevated international tensions. Commercial shipyards support surge capacity through ready facilities, active supply chains, and a larger skilled labor pool than can be sustained with defense shipbuilders alone.

The vast potential and vulnerability of maritime trade was recognized by America's Founders, who accordingly enshrined the Commerce Clause in the Constitution.⁴⁰ Since then, various laws have served overseas American interests and promoted U.S.-flagged shipping.⁴¹ But today, appeals to the nation's rich seafaring history and attendant prosperity have failed to capture public interest, and the industry is largely taken for granted.⁴² Unable to compete against highly subsidized international firms benefitting from entirely foreign labor and regulatory environments, it hangs on

only by threads of protectionist policy and other government interventions and thus competes with other government priorities for subsistence. It is therefore the Seminar's position that enhancing government support for the commercial maritime industry is not only beneficial but essential to U.S. national security.

Some Perspective on Protectionism.

Although the Merchant Marine Act of 1920, or "Jones Act," has become the popular scapegoat for shortcomings in U.S. maritime policy, the regulatory landscape is far more complicated than any one law.⁴³ Some key examples include coastwise laws such as the Passenger Vessel Services Act of 1886, which abets the Jones Act in reserving the transportation of passengers and merchandise between U.S. ports for U.S.-built, owned, and flagged vessels.⁴⁴ Similarly, the 1965 Byrnes-Tollefson Amendment prohibits the construction of military vessels in foreign shipyards, and "Made in America Laws" impose additional requirements for government-supported shipbuilding programs.^{45,46} Further, cargo preference laws require certain military and government-impelled cargos to be carried on U.S.-flagged, but not necessarily U.S.-built, ships.^{47,48,49}

In addition to protectionist policies like those cited above, the U.S. also maintains financial assistance programs like the Maritime Security Fleet, Cable Security Fleet, and the Tanker Security Fleet.⁵⁰ Under these programs, foreign-built commercial vessels with military applications receive an operating differential payment of between \$5-\$10 million per year to trade under the U.S. flag. The now-defunct U.S. Construction Differential Subsidy attempted to offset the higher costs of shipbuilding in the U.S. versus foreign yards; however, this program was defunded in the 1980s, leaving

American shipyards to compete directly with state-supported foreign shipbuilders.^{51,52} For context, from 2008 to 2023, the U.S. government awarded only \$303 million in small U.S. shipyard grants, while PRC direct state support amounted to an estimated \$132 billion from 2010 through 2018.^{53,54}

Opponents of government intervention argue that the protectionist laws are outdated and that they result in higher transportation costs, contributing to an uncompetitive maritime industry.⁵⁵ Critics point out that U.S.-built oceangoing cargo ships can cost 300 percent more than those constructed overseas.⁵⁶ Similarly, operating a U.S.-flagged oceangoing cargo vessel can cost over \$6.5 million per year more than a foreign-flagged ship of similar class.⁵⁷

Proponents of intervention maintain that these laws are essential to the preservation of the nation's industrial base and skilled workforce and that the holistic benefits of an extant commercial maritime industry outweigh the costs of market inefficiencies when considered from a nationwide perspective. Owing just to the country's size, U.S. commercial shipbuilding is a significant economic contributor even if it is dwarfed by defense shipbuilding. For example, the U.S.-produced towboat and barge fleet accounts for over 38,000 vessels, which move nearly 665 million tons of domestic cargo annually.⁵⁸ Likewise, the domestic offshore marine service industry and passenger vessel fleet include more than 3,200 U.S.-built and registered vessels.^{59,60} Even if it is sustained through regulation, this industry plays a vital role in both the U.S. economy and U.S. national security. Without U.S.-build requirements, many more non-defense shipbuilders would go out of business with attendant degradations to surge capacity, supply chains, and the skilled labor pool.

Absent a revival of construction differentials or direct subsidies, government interventions can be practically restructured to foster solutions such as dual-use shipbuilding programs, cargo preference reform, and sensible incentives to offset operating costs.⁶¹ To spur maritime statecraft through commercial applications, the U.S. should pursue a government-sponsored domestic shipbuilding program for exclusive market activity. An exclusive market, shielded from foreign competition, directly supports national security and provides presence in international shipping. Although the following recommendations are envisioned to comprise a multi-part plan to this end, each can contribute independently and are therefore presented as separate recommendations. **Recommendation: Produce a class of U.S.-built, government-owned / commercially operated (GO/CO) dry cargo ships for dual-use commercial and military applications.**

Building 18 moderately sized cargo ships to commercial specifications will allow U.S. shipyards to realize economies of scale, increase production and hiring based on consistent and long-term workload, and avoid costly layoffs of a skilled workforce in the troughs between programs. Adherence to commercial specifications and standards will curb production costs. For example, in 2016 Matson Navigation contracted with GD NASSCO to build two Jones Act Kanaloa class combination container/roll-on, roll-off vessels for \$511 million for both ships (Figure (3)).⁶² In comparison, the Navy's cost estimate for building a new Common Hull Auxiliary Multi-mission Platform (CHAMP) was \$1.14 billion per ship, which was rejected by the Office of Management and Budget in favor of buying secondhand, foreign-built cargo vessels for the Ready Reserve Force.⁶³ As a result, the Navy's 2025 budget requested almost \$205 million for two used

commercial vessels. Overall, the program intends to fund 18 used vessels through 2029 at approximately \$1.7 billion.⁶⁴



Figure 3: Matson Kanaloa-Class vessels Lurline and Matsonia were delivered by GD NASSCO of San Diego in 2019 and 2020 respectively.

The recommended dual-use fleet should be immediately pressed into service as Prepositioned and Commercially Employed Ready Sealift Ships (PACERS2). This can be achieved by offering a combination of operating contracts and leases to U.S. shipping companies. This program would see the new ships operated and maintained while providing jobs for U.S. mariners as well as improving sealift capability. The concept is comparable to the Navy's Oceanographic Research Facilities program, Enhanced Use Leases for High-Speed Transport, and MARAD's National Security Multimission Vessel (NSMV) fleet.

Recommendation: Leverage novel acquisition techniques for the dual-use fleet.

In addition to curbing cost growth, adherence to commercial specifications will also maximize opportunities to employ nonstandard contracting, acquisition, and program management techniques that are infeasible for higher-risk programs. For example, the acquisition strategy for the new cargo ships should be modeled after the NSMV program. Its hybrid approach allowed MARAD to leverage industry best practices by employing a commercial firm as a Vessel Construction Manager (VCM), responsible to oversee all phases of design, construction, and post-delivery activity.⁶⁵ While it requires special legislation to bypass certain Federal acquisition rules, the VCM approach has been validated as the first NSMV was delivered on time and on budget by Philly Shipyard.^{66,67}

An additional option, afforded by an 18-vessel acquisition program with low technology risk, is to leverage multiyear procurement (MYP) or block buy (BB) contracting, as well as economic order quantity (EOQ) purchases for major components. Both the Navy and Coast Guard have distinct MYP and BB authorities; the Coast Guard has never utilized them in a shipbuilding program, but the Navy has made extensive use of MYP and BB, reducing overall procurement costs compared to traditional contracting.⁶⁸ Additional statutory legislation may be necessary for MARAD to employ MYP or BB as an alternative to relying on existing authorities.

In addition to EOQ purchases, which lower costs, these contracting methods reinforce industry perceptions of stability, incentivizing hiring and modernization. Instead of procuring additional ships as options, which the government may or may not award, MYP and BB contracts procure a production lot upfront. Predictability and stability are

vital for shipbuilders to manage workload; for example, the frequent use of Continuing Resolutions (CRs) to fund government programs has introduced significant instability. By pairing MYP and BB contracts (which already require Congressional approval) with automatic funding authorization and appropriations, CR-driven instability can be mitigated, and the associated costs neutralized. Finally, this type of program would present an ideal opportunity to introduce the use of large modular preassemblies constructed in the shipyards of international partners, as will be detailed in the "friendshoring" section below.

Recommendation: Increase the impact of cargo preference laws.

There are no incentives to build large oceangoing cargo ships in the U.S. beyond the capacity of the coastwise market. Similarly, there are very few commercially viable opportunities to operate U.S.-flagged cargo ships without government interventions such as coastwise protections, cargo preference, government contracts, and operating differentials. Federal cargo preference laws currently require 100 percent of military cargo and at least 50 percent of non-military government cargo to be transported on privately owned U.S.-flagged commercial vessels.⁶⁹ These provisions should be modified to include U.S. build requirements (i.e., privately operated U.S.-flagged vessels built in the U.S.).⁷⁰ Additionally, non-military government cargo should be increased to 100 percent, provided that U.S.-flagged vessels are available.^{71,72} To permit firms to economically adjust to the new laws, requirements should be escalated in a graduated, stable, and well-advertised manner, similar to the concept behind Corporate Average Fuel Economy regulations in the automotive industry. The resulting modern class of U.S.-built ships will be coastwise qualified and able to replace aging capacity within the

coastwise trades. The same fleet can be contracted for prepositioning military equipment and as forward-deployed maintenance platforms in geo-strategic locations. In contingencies, the fleet can provide ready sealift.

Recommendation: Funnel duties from foreign repairs to domestic shipyards.

The Tariff Act of 1930 stipulates that certain repairs made to U.S.-flagged vessels outside the U.S. are subject to a 50 percent ad valorem duty of the foreign cost.⁷³ Even with this duty, it is still often more cost-effective to conduct repairs in a foreign shipyard. As this law is specifically intended to sustain domestic repair industries against inexpensive foreign labor, the proceeds collected from the ad valorem duty should directly enhance U.S. shipyard grants and support U.S.-flagged operations.

Recommendation: Create a Department of Maritime Affairs.

Genuine maritime power banks on effective interagency coordination to synchronize national security objectives and to collectively resource the industrial base. Yet, to date, the U.S. has no comprehensive and authoritative national maritime strategy. The Navy, Marine Corps, and Coast Guard have a 2020 maritime strategy.⁷⁴ Separately, MARAD published its 2020 maritime strategy following a seven-year effort.^{75,76} Three years later, in 2023, MARAD received a new Congressional mandate for an updated strategy.⁷⁷ By 2024, a bipartisan, bicameral, Congressional group renewed the call for a national maritime strategy and recommended installing an interagency maritime policy coordinator to lead the effort.⁷⁸ While a centralized approach is merited, it is unclear how effective a central policy coordinator can be without resources and statutory authority. An alternative is to establish the Department of Maritime Affairs, comprising the Coast Guard, MARAD, NOAA, the Federal Maritime Commission, and a new Commission on Shipbuilding. The Secretary of Maritime Affairs would be designated as the interagency maritime policy coordinator responsible for strategy development and implementation, reporting directly to the President. Additionally, the newly formed Commission on Shipbuilding would be responsible for fostering, promoting, and developing a robust, resilient, secure, and innovative maritime capability inclusive of military, government, and commercial equities.

The new Department of Maritime Affairs would be positioned to co-sponsor and implement a meaningful national maritime strategy in coordination with the DOD, interagency, U.S.-based maritime industry, and international partners. Commensurate with the elevated profile of seapower in today's strategic environment as well as the seemingly intractable problems of the maritime industry, this reorganization would align the federal agencies with authority over maritime governance for national, homeland, and economic security under a single functional Department, clear of competing demands such as border security or commercial aviation safety. This, in turn, would facilitate the whole-of-government approach needed to align naval and commercial interests in support of international maritime power.

Line of Effort Two: Friendshoring

The Value Proposition.

As American dominance observably evaporates in economic, military, and technological domains of competition, the affinity of "partners and allies" naturally takes center stage as a U.S. core strength. Accordingly, "friendshoring" - a catch-all term for

leveraging allies and partners to augment manufacturing capabilities, resources, and supply chains - is frequently promoted as an underutilized solution for the challenges facing the U.S. maritime industrial base. As previously stated, SECNAV has made friendshoring a cornerstone of his vision for maritime statecraft, a "whole-of-government effort to build comprehensive U.S. and allied maritime power."⁷⁹ Seeking support from allies in shipbuilding, maintenance, and repair, SECNAV has recently courted shipbuilders from Australia, Italy, Japan, and South Korea, trumpeting the Biden Administration's openness to critical investment from trusted allies in the U.S. maritime industry.⁸⁰

Significant victories have supported the pro-friendshoring narrative. Examples include the 2022-2023 master ship agreements between the U.S. Navy and Indian shipyards for the maintenance and repair of U.S. assets in the Indo-Pacific, as well as the use of a foreign-sourced parent design and modular preassembly by Philly Shipyard (an effort which even survived a Jones Act-related court challenge in 2008).^{81,82} As a standalone solution, though, maritime friendshoring offers only measured potential. A mix of entrenched political interests and restrictive U.S. regulations, coupled with the appropriate self-interest of partner nations, can scuttle even the most well-intentioned of friendshoring endeavors. A recent and relevant case is the blocked attempt by Japan's Nippon Steel to acquire U.S. Steel; beginning in 2023, the deal was publicly opposed by no less than President Biden.⁸³ Had this deal gone through, it would have injected partner capital and management expertise into a struggling domestic industry that provides the raw materials for ship components such as hulls, propellers, rudders, and engine parts. The Nippon Steel example demonstrates that for friendshoring to succeed

it must be thoroughly set up for success through interagency efforts that are sensitive to public concerns across vast separations of location and culture.

Nuclear-powered friendshoring.

AUKUS, the trilateral partnership among Australia, the United Kingdom (U.K.), and the U.S. announced in 2021, has the potential to develop into a historic paragon of maritime friendshoring. Building on trust developed through decades of security cooperation, the pact aims to provide Australia with conventionally armed nuclear submarines, as well as to foster collaboration on advanced capabilities involving technology and information sharing.⁸⁴ On paper, AUKUS is a great deal for the U.S.: It offers a step increase in a trusted partner's capability, interoperability, and commitment to U.S. naval imperatives as well as a new and strategically-located homeport for U.S. and British submarines. Furthermore, with Australia's commitment to procure up to five Virginia-class submarines, U.S. shipyards will benefit from an expanded submarine market as well as direct infrastructure investments by Australia. For Australia, AUKUS is also very promising: in addition to gaining interoperability with the U.S. Navy, it will become the only nation other than the U.K. with which the U.S. has shared nuclear propulsion technology. The deal will culminate in Australia's domestic design and construction of a new submarine class, SSN-AUKUS, in the late 2030s and into the 2050s.85

Despite its enormous potential, AUKUS faces substantial legal and regulatory obstacles. Chief among these are the International Traffic in Arms Regulations (ITAR), which control the import and export of defense products and complicate the technology-sharing aspects of the agreement.⁸⁶ Congress's passage of a 2023 bill directing the

State and Defense Departments to streamline export licenses in support of AUKUS was a step towards mitigating ITAR's impact on the deal.⁸⁷ More recently, the State Department's May 2024 publication of proposed AUKUS-friendly updates to ITAR suggests that the political momentum behind AUKUS is building.⁸⁸

But AUKUS's regulatory obstacles go well beyond ITAR. U.S. immigration laws, in particular, are a complicating factor, as U.K. and Australian firms struggle to secure visas for essential foreign workers. Like ITAR, overcoming these regulatory challenges is possible, but it requires pragmatic compromises that U.S. lawmakers, particularly in a divided Congress during an election year, often seem reluctant to make. These factors underscore that AUKUS, with its lengthy timeframe, must survive multiple administrative shifts across three continents in an increasingly contentious global political climate. Currently, it remains uncertain whether AUKUS will ultimately emerge as a friendshoring success or founder on the rocks of internal dissent.

Friendshoring succeeds when best practices are followed.

To be clear, the obstacles to initiatives like AUKUS are not insurmountable. Success depends upon the disciplined application of lessons learned and adherence to best practices. To that end, the following are some specific qualities shared by all notable friendshoring success stories:

Strategic focus: Friendshoring is too often proffered as if it were, in itself, a
desired outcome—friendshoring for friendshoring's sake. Instead, as a means to
an end, it must serve to advance specific and limited goals, such as in the case
of the U.S.-India ship repair initiative, or potentially, AUKUS.⁸⁹ Moreover, as the

U.S. expands its friendshoring commitments, it must be careful not to overcommit to vague and open-ended collaborations it cannot sustain.

- Clear Mutual benefit: Advancing America's interests is a fundamental goal of U.S. foreign and security policy, so it is understandable that in crafting a particular friendshoring initiative, policymakers should focus foremost on its potential benefits to the U.S. That said, partner nations also justifiably want to advance their own interests, and like the U.S., must manage a tangle of competing domestic interests and concerns. Therefore, successful friendshoring must be a multi-way street, with effects that not only benefit all parties but do so in ways that are articulable and recognizable at the level of public discourse. In other words, for a friendshoring venture to succeed it must sell well to stakeholders on each side of the agreement.
- Domestic groundwork: Risks and trade-offs are inherent to friendshoring. For example, U.S. shipyards may lose some preferred contracts as collaboration ramps up with foreign partners. If such a trade-off is unacceptable, or if the U.S. is unwilling to mitigate it through subsidies or other compensatory measures, then the friendshoring measure in question should be reconsidered. Ultimately, for friendshoring to succeed, the U.S. needs to demonstrate the political will to get its own house in order. This includes doing the hard work at the Congressional, Departmental, and White House levels to modify regulations and bureaucratic structures that impede international collaboration, such as ITAR and immigration law.

Recommendation: Leverage Nordic polar expertise.

With only one deployable heavy icebreaker and five major icebreakers to Russia's forty, and with the PRC set to surpass America's icebreaker capacity by 2025, the U.S. is at a dangerous precipice in the polar domain, both militarily and economically.^{90,91} Demand for polar marine traffic has skyrocketed as the effects of climate change and emerging resource-exploitation technologies have made new routes economically viable.⁹² Accordingly, both Russia and the PRC have ramped up efforts to capture strategic positions on this polar frontier. Meanwhile, the U.S. has struggled to adapt, with what the press call "disorganized, wasteful, and dysfunctional efforts at reconstituting fundamental polar capabilities."⁹³

Almost as if on cue, the admission of Sweden and Finland to NATO has brought with it access to the world's most proven and experienced authorities in polar engineering and navigation. Helsinki Shipyard, which the Seminar visited during field studies, currently sits idle due to the cancellation of its Russian contracts. The shipyard, now owned by Canadian firm Davie, has built more icebreakers than any other shipbuilder in the world.⁹⁴ A Davie executive estimated that it could build an international multipurpose icebreaker for under \$600M within 28 months of contracting.⁹⁵ Meanwhile, the U.S. has not built a heavy polar icebreaker in almost fifty years; the current Polar Security Cutter program, ongoing in Louisiana, is at now least three years behind schedule.⁹⁶ That said, U.S. firms have demonstrated success in building light and medium icebreakers which could be leveraged to mutual benefit in an international exchange of technology and manufacturing capacity. Commentators now call for such a "Polar AUKUS" agreement, arguing that an AUKUS-like partnership would leverage heretofore untapped polar expertise.⁹⁷ A multinational agreement could put Helsinki Shipyard to work building a "NATO Icebreaker," leveraging economies of scale to provide a common, cost-effective solution for NATO members with arctic interests. **Recommendation: Expand the use of modular preassemblies to include international partners in manufacturing.**

In modern shipbuilding, the use of modular preassemblies represents a significant advancement in construction techniques, enhancing both efficiency and quality. This method involves assembling large sections or modules of a ship in a controlled environment before transporting them to a separate construction yard for final assembly and outfitting. Each module typically includes complete systems like piping, electrical networks, and machinery. This approach reduces labor costs, permits specialization, and reduces the overall construction time and the potential for errors that might occur in a less controlled environment. By streamlining production processes and improving the accuracy of construction, modular preassemblies help shipbuilders meet tighter schedules and budgets, while also achieving higher standards of quality and safety in the finished vessels.





Modular construction techniques have been employed for generations, and are considered an industry best practice by firms like NASSCO, Philly Shipyard, GD, HII, and Austal USA.^{98,99,100} Due to advances in computer-aided design, the size of completed modules has trended upward over time; Vard, for example, uses preassemblies comprising almost an entire hull. These are constructed under favorable labor conditions in Romania, before being transported to Norway for final assembly and outfitting (Figure (4)).¹⁰¹ Although this path will require legislative work to navigate protectionist restrictions, the Vard model paired with a commercially-based contracting approach (as discussed in the earlier proposal for a dual-use fleet) presents an ideal opportunity to capitalize on partner shipbuilding capacity and labor.

While any effort to send manufacturing overseas (even to partners and allies) will meet some domestic resistance, virtually no complex product today is comprised exclusively of parts made in one country, and certainly nothing as sophisticated as a ship. Whether the part is an LCD monitor or a prefabricated hull assembly, foreign-made parts are a permanent feature of ships today. Friendshoring hull preassemblies, particularly for icebreakers or a dual-use fleet, would be more like an adjustment within a continuum than a radical departure from existing norms.

Conclusion

The challenges facing the U.S. maritime industry are both severe and multifarious, demanding a strategic approach to restore competitiveness, resilience, and capability. The ascendance of the PRC in shipbuilding, combined with Russia's strategic maneuvers in the Arctic, underscores an urgent need for the U.S. to address its current deficiencies in shipbuilding capacity, skilled labor, and innovative prowess. Addressing these challenges requires a combination of policy reform, investment, diplomacy, and a wealth of political will. But by embracing the necessary changes, the U.S. can come through its challenges to safeguard its maritime interests, support national security, and preserve its strategic position on the global stage.

APPENDIX A: COMPETITOR MARITIME INDUSTRY ANALYSIS

This appendix comprises an analysis of the shipbuilding and repair industries of the PRC, our pacing challenge, and Russia, an acute threat and agent of disruption. Similar to that provided for the U.S. maritime industry in the body of this report, analyses are structured using the Porter's Diamond model of competitive advantage.

The PRC Shipbuilding and Repair Industry

The PRC has keenly recognized the critical role of seapower in economic security and the shaping of foreign policy. As part of its economic reforms, the Chinese Communist Party (CCP) has acted with strategic intentionality, deliberately cultivating its shipbuilding sector to support a campaign for global maritime dominance. The approach is supported by substantial government intervention, skewing the market and pricing structures to enhance the industry's international competitiveness. Today, the PRC is the world's largest builder of commercial, ocean-going ships, with over 40% of the global market built in Chinese shipyards.¹⁰² The attendant supply chain is increasingly controlled by Chinese firms, primarily state-owned enterprises (SOEs), which have received support "that is unrivaled in size and scope."¹⁰³ This dominance is no mere coincidence; it is the result of deliberate and sustained policy support.



Figure 5: Porter's Diamond Analysis of the PRC Shipbuilding and Repair Industry

Factor Conditions.

Maritime industries are characterized by high capital intensity and low profit margins. To overcome these challenges, Chinese firms rely extensively upon state support which includes direct and indirect subsidies, financing from state-owned banks, state-supported fundraising, preferential borrowing rates, and low-cost credit. This comprehensive support system has enabled Chinese companies to "flood the world with cheap products, dive foreign competition out of business, and gain global dominance."¹⁰⁴ From 2010 to 2018, these firms received approximately \$132 billion from direct subsidies and financing from state banks alone. ¹⁰⁵ Furthermore, stateowned banks strategically direct individual state-owned enterprises (SOEs) to invest in other SOEs, reallocating resources to industries deemed strategically important but which might otherwise struggle to survive under normal market conditions. ¹⁰⁶

Central to the CCP's strategy is the "Made in China 2025" initiative, which designates maritime equipment and high-tech vessel manufacturing as one of ten priority sectors for the PRC to use industrial plans to "boost competitiveness by advancing China's position in the global manufacturing value chain, 'leapfrogging' into emerging technologies, and reducing reliance on foreign firms."¹⁰⁷ The initiative aims

to enhance China's competitiveness by advancing its position in the global manufacturing value chain, pioneering emerging technologies, and reducing dependence on foreign firms.

Demand Conditions.

The PRC benefits from robust demand in both domestic and international markets. The nature of home market demand has a disproportionate effect on how companies perceive, interpret, and respond to buyer needs.¹⁰⁸ During the global economic downturn in 2008, which caused a sharp decline in worldwide demand within the industry, the PRC initiated a "scrap and build subsidy" scheme to artificially boost demand.¹⁰⁹ This policy enabled Chinese firms to modernize their fleets at a substantially reduced cost, improving the balance sheets of shipping firms while also propping up demand for shipbuilders.

The PRC's Belt and Road Initiative (BRI) has also significantly impacted the maritime environment. In addition to fostering domestic demand for shipbuilding and repair, it expanded access to global maritime markets. From 2010 to 2019, under the BRI, Chinese companies invested approximately \$11 billion in overseas ports through 25 projects across 18 countries. Concurrently, the PRC has implemented restrictions on foreign investments in the shipbuilding sector, restricting access for foreign-owned firms which constitute only 5% of the ships built in China. ¹¹⁰ This strategy effectively preserves a competitive edge for domestic firms by limiting foreign competition within the local market.

Related and Supporting Industries.

The PRC has skillfully implemented industrial policies to boost its competitiveness not only within the shipbuilding and repair industry but also throughout the entire maritime supply chain. In an economy comprising 116 industrial sectors, "97 are associated with the shipbuilding sector."¹¹¹ The nation dominates the production of key maritime components, manufacturing 96% of the world's shipping containers and more than 80% of the world's ship-to-shore cranes. Chinese steelmakers also contribute approximately 55% of the global steel output—an essential material for shipbuilding and repair. The proximity and scale of these suppliers, who are global competitors themselves, provide a significant advantage to the nation's shipbuilding sector. Furthermore, China is home to 7 of the world's 10 busiest ports. ¹¹²

Capitalizing on the symbiotic relationship between commercial and military shipbuilding, the PRC employs a Military-Civil Fusion (MCF) model which effectively forces the integration of naval and commercial shipbuilding. This relationship allows each sector to support and benefit from the other. A prime example of this model's effectiveness is the China State Shipbuilding Corporation (CSSC), which not only builds one-fifth of the world's cargo vessels but also supplies warships to the People's Liberation Army Navy (PLAN). This overlap means that foreign orders for cargo ships may inadvertently support the modernization of the PLAN; over 70% of the orders at CSSC's flagship yard are from foreign owners, illustrating the global influence and strategic depth of China's maritime industries.¹¹³

Firm Strategy, Structure, and Rivalry.

Two-thirds of the ships built in China are produced by state-owned enterprises (SOEs).¹¹⁴ The PRC has actively encouraged these SOEs to consolidate, effectively reducing internal competition. Notable examples include the merger that transformed China Merchant Group into the world's largest port and logistics company, as well as the combination of China's COSCO Shipping Corporation with China Shipping Group, creating the world's third-largest shipping firm.¹¹⁵ These mergers and acquisitions take place in an environment devoid of the antimonopoly and pro-competitive regulations typically found outside of the PRC. This regulatory landscape encourages the formation of massive conglomerates strategically poised to capture and exploit significant market share.

The Russian Shipbuilding and Repair Industry

Like the U.S., Russia has a storied history in both naval and commercial shipbuilding. However, Russia's maritime industry was among its worst impacted by the dissolution of the Soviet Union. ¹¹⁶ Today, its capabilities are primarily focused on Naval Engineering and Armament (NEA), leading to a significant imbalance between the civil and military sectors. Historically a prominent exporter of ships for foreign navies, the industry has faced substantial setbacks due to international sanctions—initially triggered by the annexation of Crimea in 2014 and intensified following the invasion of Ukraine in 2022. ^{117,118}

As an international competitor, Russia's maritime industry trails behind its American and Chinese counterparts. In 2023, for example, the U.S. Navy expanded by 32,000 tons and the People's Liberation Army Navy (PLAN) by 50,000 tons, whereas the Russian fleet saw minimal growth.¹¹⁹ This stagnation underscores the broader struggles facing the industry, which the Russian government is keen to address in an attempt to restore competitiveness.¹²⁰ However, any efforts to rejuvenate the shipbuilding and repair sector must contend with the demands of the ongoing conflict in Ukraine. Despite a 40% increase in defense budgets, naval procurement remains a low priority, with spending predominantly directed towards capabilities suited for land warfare.¹²¹



Figure 6: Porter's Diamond Analysis of Russia's Shipbuilding and Repair Industry

Factor Conditions.

The Russian government has historically been deeply involved in shaping the country's maritime industry. During the Soviet era, extensive state support facilitated rapid growth, elevating the industry to one of the strongest globally. However, following the collapse of the Soviet Union, the industry suffered a lack of financing, reduced orders, and a general trend of de-industrialization, causing Russia to lose its competitive edge internationally.¹²²In more recent times, the industry has been challenged by capital funds and credit systems ill-suited for developing advanced technology products, coupled with a shortage of highly gualified engineers and skilled workers.

The Russian government has attempted to respond to these challenges, with initiatives beginning in 2008 to advance scientific and technological research in marine technology. By 2012, the government had approved a \$3.6 billion state-run program focused on shipbuilding science, the development of new vessels, and the improvement of manufacturing facilities to meet "the full satisfaction of state and business demand."¹²³ This program was designed to answer both state and business demands comprehensively and to enhance the global standing of Russian shipbuilding.

The effectiveness of these initiatives has been frustrated by the impact of international sanctions, which have disproportionately impacted Russia's competitiveness in commercial maritime industries. Specifically, before the sanctions, "Europe and South Korea were the two biggest markets;" now both are "imperiled" by an inability to access foreign equipment those customers demand.¹²⁴ For example, the shipbuilder Zvezda SSC has been unable to complete orders due to sanctions, following the withdrawal of its partnership with South Korean shipyards to produce new large tankers.¹²⁵

Despite these challenges, analysts still consider shipbuilding to be one of Russia's "most important industries."¹²⁶ Continued government intervention reflects this consensus; in 2023, the government announced a \$5.1 billion long-term state support program targeting commercial shipbuilding, alongside a \$1.1 billion program dedicated to the domestic development of engines, both areas significantly affected by sanctions.¹²⁷ These efforts underscore the Kremlin's ongoing commitment to revitalizing an industry deemed vital to Russia's economic and strategic interests.

Demand Conditions.

As the world's largest country by area, Russia has substantial shipbuilding and repair requirements. With an extensive network of rivers traversing its vast landmass and approximately 25,000 miles of coastline, the nation relies heavily on both commercial and naval vessels to ensure national security, political stability, food security, and efficient transportation. Russia's maritime industry is disproportionately structured in favor of naval production, an imbalance that persists even though there is significant demand for commercial vessels. As a result, the country relies heavily on imported supply to meet the needs of its civilian maritime sector.¹²⁸

Related and Supporting Industries.

Russia has a significant presence in industries related to shipbuilding, such as freight travel via its extensive waterways connecting Europe to Asia, as well as fishing and scientific exploration in the Arctic region. These industries serve as important commercial customers for the shipbuilding sector. However, despite this potential, shipbuilders only constitute 4% of domestic industrial demand.¹²⁹

Although shipbuilding is a major employer in Russia, the industry lacks robust organic supply chains.¹³⁰ Sanctions have highlighted this vulnerability, restricting the imports of essential foreign components and technologies. In the naval sector, critical supplies such as diesel engines, composite superstructures, and complex electronics (radars, communications systems, guided missiles, and sonar arrays) are unavailable due to a lack of domestic substitutions. These challenges are further compounded by shortages of qualified personnel with technical expertise, limited access to necessary alloys, and an absence of automation or precision machining equipment.

In response to these challenges, Russia is actively pursuing initiatives to replace foreign components and technologies with domestic alternatives. It also seeks to mitigate the impact of sanctions through partnership with the People's Republic of China (PRC).¹³¹ However, the process of replacing technology and establishing new supply chains is time-consuming, and the industry continues to face significant hurdles in its path to self-sufficiency and global competitiveness.

Firm Strategy, Structure, and Rivalry.

The Russian government plays a significant role in the strategic direction, structural organization, and competitive dynamics of its shipbuilding industry. By a 2007 presidential executive order, a major restructuring was initiated to preserve and enhance the country's shipbuilding capabilities, leading to the creation of the United Shipbuilding Corporation (USC). USC is now a fully state-owned entity and the largest shipbuilder in Russia, boasting over 60 shipyards with more than 80,000 employees, and responsible for managing over 80% of the nation's shipbuilding output.¹³²

The strategic intent behind this organization includes developing the capability of all Russian shipyards to support both commercial and naval vessels. This approach aims to maximize the utilization of production capacities and reduce manufacturing costs, enhancing the overall competitiveness of Russian shipbuilding. USC is headquartered in St. Petersburg, which is Russia's primary shipbuilding hub, hosting the bulk of maritime manufacturing capacity as well as the industry's critical design and development sectors. Nearly 90% of the country's shipbuilding potential is concentrated in this region.¹³³

NOTES:

- ² Mackenzie Eaglen, "The U.S. Navy Is Falling Behind China, and The Pentagon Knows It." American Enterprise Institute - AEI (blog). Accessed May 7, 2024. <u>https://www.aei.org/op-eds/the-u-s-navy-is-falling-behind-china-and-the-pentagon-knows-it/</u>.
- ³ Susan B. Glasser, "What If We're Already Fighting the Third World War with Russia?" *The New Yorker*, September 29, 2022. <u>https://www.newyorker.com/news/letter-from-bidens-washington/what-if-were-</u> already-fighting-the-third-world-war-with-russia.
- ⁴ Michael E. Porter, The competitive advantage of Nations (New York: Free Press, 1990), 77.

⁵ John Mintz, "How A Dinner Led to a Feeding Frenzy," *The Washington Post,* July 3, 1997, https://www.washingtonpost.com/archive/business/1997/07/04/how-a-dinner-led-to-a-feedingfrenzy/13961ba2-5908-4992-8335-c3c087cdebc6/.

- ⁶ Ellen M. Lord and Jeffrey Nadaner, "A 21st Century Defense Industrial Strategy for America," *Hudson Institute*, June 2021, 16.
- ⁷ Porter, "The Competitive Advantage of Nations," 74.
- ⁸ U.S. Department of the Navy, Office of the Chief of Naval Operations, Deputy Chief of Naval Operations for Warfighting Requirements and Capabilities – OPNAV N9, *Report to Congress on the Annual Long-Range Plan for Construction of Naval Vessels for Fiscal Year 2025*, 13,
- https://s3.documentcloud.org/documents/24487775/rtc-pb25-shipbuilding_plan.pdf.
 ⁹ Ezra Greenberg, Erik Schaefer, and Brooke Weddle, "Tradespeople wanted: The need for critical trade skills in the U.S.," *McKinsey & Company*, April 9, 2024, https://www.mckinsey.com/capabilities/people-and-organizational-performance/our-insights/tradespeople-wanted-the-need-for-critical-trade-skills-in-the-US?utm_medium=DSMN8&utm_source=LinkedIn&utm_user=14419233729997495.
- ¹⁰ Alexander Grey, "The Submarine Workforce Crisis: Admitting Realities and Restructuring Long-Term Strategy," War on the Rocks, April 4, 2024, https://warontherocks.com/2024/04/the-submarine-workforce-crisisadmitting-realities-and-restructuring-long-term-strategy/
- ¹¹ John Grady, "Attracting Quality Workforce Biggest Issue Facing Shipyards, Experts Tell Congress." *USNI News* (*blog*), February 9, 2023, https://news.usni.org/2023/02/08/attracting-quality-workforce-biggest-issue-facing-shipyard-experts-tell-congress.
- ¹² Porter, "The Competitive Advantage of Nations," 79.
- ¹³ John Konrad, "gCaptain OpEd: U.S. Navy Shipbuilding has A BIG Badger Problem," *gCaptain*, February 26, 2023, https://gcaptain.com/oped-us-navy-shipbuilding-badger-problem/.
- ¹⁴ Alexander Wooley, "Float, Move, and Fight: How the U.S. Navy lost the shipbuilding race," *Foreign Policy* (*blog*), October 10, 2021, https://foreignpolicy-com.nduezproxy.idm.oclc.org/2021/10/10/us-navyshipbuilding-sea-power-failure-decline-competition-china/.
- ¹⁵ Build America, Buy America Act, Public Law 117-48, U.S. Statutes at Large 135 (2021): 1294-1301.
- ¹⁶ Evan Jozkowski, "Ship Building in the US Industry Report," *IBISWorld*, January 2024, 56.
- ¹⁷ Fairbanks Morse Defense, briefing to National Defense University Dwight D. Eisenhower School Maritime Domain Industry Study, February 29, 2024.
- ¹⁸ Continental Maritime San Diego, briefing to National Defense University Dwight D. Eisenhower School Maritime Domain Industry Study, April 11, 2024
- ¹⁹ Heather Boushey and Helen Knudsen, "The Importance of Competition for the American Economy," WH.GOV, The Biden Administration, last modified July 9, 2021, https://www.whitehouse.gov/cea/writtenmaterials/2021/07/09/the-importance-of-competition-for-the-american-economy/.
- ²⁰ Porter, "The Competitive Advantage of Nations," 83.
- ²¹ "North American Industry Classification System," The United States Census Bureau, accessed May 2, 2024, https://www.census.gov/naics/?input=ship+building&year=2022&details=336611.
- ²² Jozkowski, "Ship Building in the US," 10.
- ²³ Jozkowski, "Ship Building in the US," 12.

¹ The White House, "The Biden-Harris Administration National Security Strategy," October 2022. <u>https://www.whitehouse.gov/wp-content/uploads/2022/10/Biden-Harris-Administrations-National-Security-Strategy-10.2022.pdf</u>.

²⁴ Kenneth S. Corts and Jan W. Rivkin, "A Note on Microeconomics for Strategists," *Harvard Business School*, March 1999 (Revised January 2000).

²⁵ Quote by Kari Wilkinson, President of Ingalls Shipbuilding from Eric Lipton, "Faced With Evolving Threats, U.S. Navy Struggles to Change," The New York Times, September 4, 2023,

https://www.nytimes.com/2023/09/04/us/politics/us-navy-ships.html#:~:text=navy%2Dships.html-,Faced%20With%20Evolving%20Threats%2C%20U.S.20Navy%20Struggles%20to%20Change,tradition%2C%20political%20influence%20and%20jobs.

²⁶ Quote by Kari Wilkinson, President of Ingalls Shipbuilding from Eric Lipton, "Faced With Evolving Threats, U.S. Navy Struggles to Change," *The New York Times,* September 4, 2023, https://www.nytimes.com/2023/09/04/us/politics/us-navy-ships.html#:~:text=navy%2Dships.html-

,Faced%20With%20Evolving%20Threats%2C%20U.S.%20Navy%20Struggles%20to%20Change,tradition%2C%20political%20influence%20and%20jobs.

- ²⁷ "Advocating for a strong shipyard industrial base since 1920," *Shipbuilders Council of America,* accessed May 2, 2024, https://shipbuildersusa.org.
- ²⁸ "Supporting Navy Readiness and National Defense," *Port of San Diego Repair Association,* accessed May 2, 2024, https://sandiegoshiprepair.com.
- ²⁹ "SECNAV Del Toro Leads Inaugural Meeting of the Government Shipbuilders Council," *U.S. Navy Press Release,* November 17, 2023.
- ³⁰ Lipton, "Faced with Evolving Threats."
- ³¹ Based on analysis of Appropriations Bills for FY 2013 to FY 2023.
- ³² Jozkowski, "Ship Building in the US Industry Report," 10-12.
- ³³ Lipton, "Faced with Evolving Threats."
- ³⁴ Arun Kr Dev and Makaraksha Saha, "Modeling and Analysis of Ship Repairing Labor," *Journal of Ship Production and Design* 32, no. 4, 2016, 258.
- ³⁵ Jozkowski, "Shipbuilding in the US," 24.
- ³⁶ Justin Katz, "Navy lays out major shipbuilding delays, in rare public accounting," *Breaking Defense*, April 2, 2024, https://breakingdefense.com/2024/04/navy-ship-delays-columbia-constellation-virginia-enterprise-del-toro/.
- ³⁷ Jozkowski, "Ship Building in the US," 12.
- ³⁸ Craig Hooper, "Why Navy Secretary Carlos Del Toro Blasted America's Big Shipbuilders." Forbes, Accessed May 7, 2024. <u>https://www.forbes.com/sites/craighooper/2024/02/20/why-navy-secretary-carlos-del-toroblasted-americas-big-shipbuilders/</u>.
- ³⁹ Conversation with the Seminar, March 22, 2024
- ⁴⁰ Referred to as the Commerce Clause, Article 1, Section 8, Clause 3 of the Constitution grants Congress the power "to regulate Commerce with foreign Nations, and among the several states, and with Indian Tribes," The Constitution of the United States, accessed April 13, 2024, https://constitutioncenter.org/media/files/constitution.pdf.
- ⁴¹ MARAD, "Cabotage Laws," accessed April 13, 2024, https://www.maritime.dot.gov/sites/marad.dot.gov/files/docs/resources/newsroom/fact
 - sheets/3626/cabotagelaws.pdf.
- ⁴² Ship ownership should not be conflated with Flag Registry. For example, the U.S. is the fourth top ship-owning nation by total asset value despite there being less than 200 oceangoing, self-propelled, U.S.-flag cargo vessels of at least 1,000 gross tons. This is a key factor in considering the utility of the Effective United States Controlled (EUSC) Fleet comprised of foreign-flagged merchant vessels that are owned and operated by American companies, which are available for requisition under 46 U.S.C. §1242 in the event of a national contingency. Oceangoing Self-Propelled, Cargo-Carrying Vessels of 1,000 Gross Tons and Above, U.S. Department of Transportation. Bureau of Transportation Statistics, "National Transportation Statistics (NTS)," 2019, https://doi.org/10.21949/1503663.
- ⁴³ Title 46 U.S. Code (U.S.C.) § 55102, Merchant Marine Act of 1920
- ⁴⁴ Title 46 U.S.C. § 55103 (b), Passenger Vessel Services Act of 1886.
- ⁴⁵ Title 10 U.S.C. § 8679
- ⁴⁶ "Made in America Laws" includes all statutes, regulations, rules, and Executive Orders relating to MARAD's Federal financial assistance awards as well as those that refer to "Buy America" or "Buy American," which stipulate the purchase or acquisition of goods, products, or materials produced in the United States.

MARAD, "Made in America," accessed May 2, 2024, https://www.maritime.dot.gov/grants-finances/made-america.

- ⁴⁷ Title 10 U.S.C. § 2631, Military Cargo Preference Act of 1904 (100 percent of cargo); 46 U.S.C. § 55305, Cargo Preference Act of 1954 (50 percent of cargo); 46 U.S.C. § 55304, Public Resolution 17 of 1934, Export-Import Bank (100 percent of cargo).
- ⁴⁸ MARAD, "Cargo Preference," accessed April 13, 2024, https://www.maritime.dot.gov/ports/cargopreference/cargo-preference.
- ⁴⁹ Export-Import Bank of the United States, "U.S. Flag Shipping Requirements," accessed April 13, 2024, https://www.exim.gov/policies/us-flag-shipping-requirements.
- ⁵⁰ Title 46 U.S.C. § 53101, Maritime Security Fleet; 46 U.S.C. § 53201, Cable Security Fleet; 46 U.S.C. § 53401, Tanker Security Fleet.
- ⁵¹ The Construction Differential Subsidy was intended to offset higher U.S. shipbuilding costs by paying up to 50 percent of the difference between U.S. and foreign construction. John Frittelli, "U.S. Commercial Shipbuilding in a Global Context," Congressional Research Service, 2023, accessed May 2, 2024, https://crsreports.congress.gov/product/pdf/IF/IF12534.
- ⁵² The U.S. Department of Transportation offers various loan guarantees and tax schemes such as the Small Shipyard Grant Program (46 U.S.C. § 541), the Federal Ship Financing Program (i.e., "Title XI Program;" 46 U.S.C. § 537), the Construction Reserve Fund (46 U.S.C. § 533), and the Capital Construction Fund (46 U.S.C. § 535).
- ⁵³ Department of Transportation, "USDOT Announces Funding for 27 Small Shipyards in 20 States to Help Increase Productivity and Create Jobs," accessed May 14, 2024, https://www.transportation.gov/briefingroom/usdot-announces-funding-27-small-shipyards-20-states-help-increase-productivity-and.
- ⁵⁴ Jude Blanchette et al., "Hidden Harbors: China's State-Backed Shipping Industry," July 8, 2020, https://www.csis.org/analysis/hidden-harbors-chinas-state-backed-shipping-industry.
- ⁵⁵ Colin Grabow, Inu Manak, Daniel Ikenson, "The Jones Act: A Burden America Can No Longer Bear," Cato Institute, June 28, 2018, https://www.cato.org/publications/policy-analysis/jones-act-burden-america-canno-longer-bear.
- ⁵⁶ Colin Grabow, "Sorry Unions, China Isn't Responsible for US Shipbuilding Woes," Cato Institute, March 18, 2024, https://www.cato.org/blog/sorry-unions-china-isnt-responsible-us-shipbuilding-woes.
- ⁵⁷ Andrew Von Ah, "Maritime Security: DOT Needs to Expeditiously Finalize the Required National Maritime Strategy for Sustaining U.S.-flag Fleet," U.S. Government Accountability Office, August 2018, https://www.gao.gov/assets/gao-18-478.pdf.
- ⁵⁸ The American Waterways Operators, "Jobs & The Economy," November 30, 2022, https://www.americanwaterways.com/initiatives/jobs-economy.
- ⁵⁹ Aaron Smith, "Offshore Marine Service Association," March 16, 2018, https://garamendi.house.gov/sites/evosubsites/garamendi-evo.house.gov/files/OMSA.PDF.
- ⁶⁰ Colleen Stephens, "Passenger Vessel Association," April 10, 2020,
- https://www.passengervessel.com/downloads/letters/2020-Secretary-Mnuchin-Letter.pdf.
- ⁶¹ Operational offsets can include a Merchant Marine Earnings Deduction, which would incentivize critical jobs and lower shipboard operational costs by allowing qualified U.S. mariners to claim a 100 percent income tax relief for services conducted on any waters while employed on U.S.-flag cargo vessels for a specific period during any period of 12 consecutive months. Similar income tax relief schemes exist for seafarers in the United Kingdom and Denmark.
- ⁶² Matson, "Matson Signs Contract with NASSCO to Build Two New Con-Ro Ships for Hawaii Service," 216, accessed April 12, 2024, https://investor.matson.com/news-releases/news-release-details/matson-signscontract-nassco-build-two-new-con-ro-ships-hawaii.
- ⁶³ Justin Katz, "OMB Tells Navy to 'revisit' CHAMP Program, citing \$1B Price Tag," *Inside Defense*, December 20, 2019, https://insidedefense.com/daily-news/omb-tells-navy-revisit-champ-program-citing-1b-price-tag.
- ⁶⁴ The perceived benefits of purchasing secondhand commercial vessels are near-term cost and schedule savings. However, there are drawbacks. Primarily, commercial markets dictate purchase price and availability. In today's hot market, the price for secondhand vessels can exceed the new-build cost. Left with few options, the Navy can only access older tonnage driving increased funding requests in the 2025 budget. Replacing 50-year-old sealift with 30-year-old commercial ships creates an artificially inflated government-funded market for vessels that otherwise would only have value in the global scrap market.

Additionally, the move cuts out U.S. shipyards in favor of foreign shipbuilders such as China. Department of Defense, "Fiscal Year 2025 Budget Estimates: Shipbuilding and Conversion, Navy," Justification Book, March 2024, accessed April 12, 2024,

https://www.secnav.navy.mil/fmc/fmb/Documents/25pres/SCN_Book.pdf.

65 MARAD, "NSMV Pamphlet," accessed April 12, 2024,

https://www.maritime.dot.gov/sites/marad.dot.gov/files/2021-10/MARAD_NSMV_Pamphlet%2010-16-21_0.pdf.

- ⁶⁶ FY 2017 National Defense Authorization Act, Sec. 3505. "PLAW-114publ328.Pdf," accessed April 12, 2024, https://www.congress.gov/114/plaws/publ328/PLAW-114publ328.pdf.
- ⁶⁷ Ann C Phillips, "Before the Committee on Armed Services Subcommittee on Readiness & Subcommittee on Seapower and Projection Forces United States House of Representatives hearing on 'Posture and Readiness of the Mobility Enterprise,'" March 28, 2023, https://www.transportation.gov/posture-andreadiness-mobility-enterprise.
- ⁶⁸ Ronald O'Rourke, "Multiyear Procurement (MYP) and Block Buy Contracting in Defense Acquisition: Background and Issues for Congress," December 9, 2020, accessed May 1, 2024, https://crsreports.congress.gov/product/pdf/R/R41909/97.
- ⁶⁹ MARAD, "Cargo Preference," accessed April 12, 2024, https://www.maritime.dot.gov/ports/cargopreference/cargo-preference.
- ⁷⁰ The U.S.-build requirement can be waived for U.S.-flag bulk carriers engaged in foreign cargo preference service, provided that the ship was constructed by an allied or partner nation.
- ⁷¹ Andrew Von Ah, "Maritime Administration: Actions Needed to Enhance Cargo Preference Oversight," Government Accountability Office, September 14, 2022, https://www.gao.gov/assets/gao-22-106198.pdf.
- ⁷² In 2023, USAID shipped 535,215 metric tons of food aid, of which 73.6% was carried by U.S.-flag ships. USAID, "Cargo Preference Statistics, Cargo Preference Year 2023," October 18, 2023, https://www.usaid.gov/node/501751.
- ⁷³ Title 19 U.S.C. § 1466, Tariff Act of 1930.
- ⁷⁴ Kenneth Braithwaite, "Advantage at Sea: Prevailing with Integrated All-Domain Naval Power," December 2020, https://media.defense.gov/2020/Dec/17/2002553481/-1/-
 - 1/0/TRISERVICESTRATEGY.PDF/TRISERVICESTRATEGY.PDF.
- ⁷⁵ Susan Fleming, "National Maritime Strategy: DOT is Taking Steps to Obtain Interagency Input and Finalize Strategy," January 2020, https://www.gao.gov/assets/gao-20-178.pdf.
- ⁷⁶ Department of Transportation, "Goals and Objectives for a Stronger Maritime Nation: A Report to Congress," February 2020, https://www.maritime.dot.gov/sites/marad.dot.gov/files/docs/outreach/policy-papers-andfact-sheets/12561/national-maritime-strategy.pdf.
- ⁷⁷ MARAD, "MARAD Selects the Center for Naval Analyses to Examine the Future of the U.S. Maritime Industry," September 12, 2023, https://www.maritime.dot.gov/newsroom/marad-selects-center-naval-analysesexamine-future-us-maritime-industry.
- ⁷⁸ Mark Kelly, Letter to the Honorable Joseph R. Biden, President of the United States, "January 29, 2024, https://www.kelly.senate.gov/wp-content/uploads/2024/01/2024-1-29-White-House-Marititime-Strategy.pdf.
- ⁷⁹ U.S. Navy, "SECNAV Delivers Remarks at Harvard Kennedy School", September 26, 2023
- ⁸⁰ James P. Pinkerton, "The U.S.-Japan Partnership Is Bigger Than a Business Deal", Newsweek, April 2, 2024
- ⁸¹ Aaron-Matthew Lariosa, "India to Take on Future U.S. Navy Ship Maintenance Per Agreement", USNI News, U.S. Naval Institute, September 14, 2023
- ⁸² United States District Court, E.D. Pennsylvania, *Philadelphia Metal Trades Council v. Allen*, August 21, 2008
- ⁸³ Ximena Bustillo, "<u>Biden Said He Opposes Nippon Steel Takeover of US Steel. Now the USW Has Endorsed</u> <u>Him</u>", *NPR*, March 20, 2024
- ⁸⁴ Lauren Kahn, "<u>AUKUS Explained: How Will the Trilateral Pact Shape Indo-Pacific Security?</u>", Council on Foreign Relations, June 12, 2023
- ⁸⁵ Mick Ryan, "<u>AUKUS Submarine Agreement: Historic but Not Yet Smooth Sailing</u>", Center for Strategic & International Studies, March 17, 2023
- ⁸⁶ Deborah Cheverton and John T. Watts, "<u>AUKUS is Hamstrung by Outdated U.S. Export Control Rules. Here's</u> <u>What Congress Can Do</u>", Atlantic Council, November 15, 2023
- ⁸⁷ Bryant Harris, "Congress Lays Groundwork for AUKUS Export Control Reform", DefenseNews, March 22, 2023

- ⁸⁸ U.S. Department of State, "<u>AUKUS Partners Rule Changes for Secure License-Free Defense Trade</u>", May 2, 2024
- ⁸⁹ Ashish Dangwal, "US Navy Eyes Indian, Japanese & Korean Shipyards To Quickly Repair Its Warships During War With China." *Latest Asian, Middle-East, EurAsian, Indian News* (blog), May 3, 2024. https://www.eurasiantimes.com/us-navy-eyes-indian-japanese-korean-shipyards/.
- ⁹⁰ John G, Diefenbaker Louis St Laurent, Terry Fox, Henry Larsen, Sir Wilfrid Laurier, Pierre Radisson, Harry Dewolf, and Margaret Brooke. "Major Icebreakers of the World' Chart." U.S. Coast Guard Office of Waterways and Ocean Policy (CG-WWM), n.d. https://www.dco.uscg.mil/Portals/9/DCO%20Documents/Office%20of%20Waterways%20and%20Ocean%20Policy/20170501%20major%20icebreaker%20chart.pdf?ver=2017-06-08-091723-907.
- ⁹¹ Ella Sherman, "<u>The US Military Doesn't Have the Icebreakers to Compete in the Arctic and is 'Severely</u> Outnumbered by Russia' Commander Warns", *Business Insider*, March 2024
- ⁹² Rebecca Lindsey, "As Sea Ice Retreats, More Ship Traffic Is Entering the Arctic High Seas | NOAA Climate.Gov," December 13, 2022. <u>http://www.climate.gov/news-features/featured-images/sea-ice-retreats-more-ship-traffic-entering-arctic-high-seas</u>.
- ⁹³ Craig Hooper, "<u>A New 'Polar AUKUS' Can Save America's Faltering Antarctic And Arctic Strategies</u>", Forbes, March 18, 2024
- ⁹⁴ Taru Virtanen, "An Ice-Breaking Experience." thisisFINLAND, January 20, 2017. <u>https://finland.fi/business-innovation/an-ice-breaking-experience/</u>.
- ⁹⁵ Conversation with the Seminar, April 16, 2024.
- ⁹⁶ U.S. Government Accountability Office, "<u>Coast Guard Acquisitions: Polar Security Cutter Needs to Stabilize</u> <u>Design Before Starting Construction and Improve Schedule Oversight</u>", July 27, 2023
- ⁹⁷ Hooper, "<u>A New 'Polar AUKUS'</u>", March 18, 2024
- ⁹⁸ "Philadelphia Metal Trades Council v. Allen, CIVIL ACTION NO. 07-145," accessed May 2, 2024, https://casetext.com/case/philadelphia-metal-trades-council-v-allen.
- ⁹⁹ Bryan Riley, "Are Jones Act Ships Really 'Made in the USA'? Well, Sort Of," Text, *The Hill*, June 7, 2016, https://thehill.com/blogs/pundits-blog/transportation/282455-are-jones-act-ships-really-made-in-the-usawell-sort-of/.
- ¹⁰⁰ Nick Adde, "Double Duty: Shipyards Building Two Submarine Classes Simultaneously." Accessed May 5, 2024. <u>https://www.nationaldefensemagazine.org/articles/2022/7/22/shipyards-building-two-submarine-classes-simultaneously.</u>
- ¹⁰¹ Baird Maritime, "Romanian Yard Floats out Future Norwegian Coast Guard Multi-Role Vessel." Baird Maritime (blog), August 19, 2021. <u>https://www.bairdmaritime.com/work-boat-world/maritime-security-world/non-naval/romanian-yard-floats-out-future-norwegian-coast-guard-multi-role-vessel/.</u>
- ¹⁰² Carlos Del Toro, "Remarks by SECNAV at Harvard Kennedy School," transcript of speech delivered at the Harvard Kennedy School, Boston, MA, September 26, 2023, https://www.navy.mil/Press-Office/Speeches/display-speeches/Article/3538420/secnav-delivers-remarks-at-harvard-kennedy-school/.
- ¹⁰³ Jude Blanchette, Jonathan E. Hillman, Maesea McCalpin, and Mingda Qiu, "Hidden Harbors: China's State-Backed Shipping Industry," *Center for Strategic and International Studies*, July 2020, https://csis-websiteprod.s3.amazonaws.com/s3fs-public/publication/207008_Blanchette_Hidden%20Harbors_Brief_WEB% 20FINAL.pdf, 1.
- ¹⁰⁴ Agathe Demarais, "Forget About Chips China Is Coming for Ships," *Foreign Policy,* April 19, 2024, https://foreignpolicy.com/2024/04/19/china-ships-shipbuilding-shipping-shipyards-unfair-competition/.
- ¹⁰⁵ Blanchette, Hillman, McCalpin, and Qiu, "Hidden Harbors," 1.
- ¹⁰⁶ Blanchette, Hillman, McCalpin, and Qiu, "Hidden Harbors," 5.
- ¹⁰⁷ Karen M. Sutter, Congressional Research Service, *"Made in China 2025" Industrial Policies: Issues for Congress*, IF10964, 2023, https://crsreports.congress.gov/product/pdf/IF/IF10964/10.
- ¹⁰⁸ Porter, "The Competitive Advantage of Nations," 79.
- ¹⁰⁹ Jude Blanchette, Jonathan E. Hillman, Mingda Qiu, and Maesea McCalpin. "Hidden Harbors: China's State-Backed Shipping Industry," July 8, 2020. <u>https://www.csis.org/analysis/hidden-harbors-chinas-statebacked-shipping-industry.</u>
- ¹¹⁰ Demarais, "Forget About Chips," Foreign Policy.

- ¹¹¹ Andrew D. Taffer, "China's Maritime Industry: History, Commerce, and Strategy" (presentation, National Defense University Dwight D. Eisenhower School Maritime Domain Industry Study, Washington DC, February 9, 2024.
- ¹¹² Blanchette, Hillman, McCalpin, and Qiu, "Hidden Harbors," 1.
- ¹¹³ Demarais, "Forget About Chips," *Foreign Policy*.
- ¹¹⁴ Demarais, "Forget About Chips," *Foreign Policy*.
- ¹¹⁵ Blanchette, Hillman, McCalpin, and Qiu, "Hidden Harbors," 1.
- ¹¹⁶ Sergio Miller, "Russian Shipbuilding Takes a Big Hit What's Next?," *Wavell Room*, March 24, 2023, https://wavellroom.com/2023/03/24/russian-shipbuilding/.
- ¹¹⁷ Irina R. Tulyakova, Elena Gregova, and Victor V. Dengov, "Assessment of Competitiveness of Shipbuilding Industry in Russia," *Nase More,* December 4, 2017: 112-119.
- ¹¹⁸ Miller, "Russian Shipbuilding."
- ¹¹⁹ David Axe, "The Ukrainian Navy Blows Up As Much Russian Naval Tonnage As Russian Shipyards Manage To Build," *Forbes*, January 6, 2024, https://www.forbes.com/sites/davidaxe/2024/01/06/the-ukrainian-navyblows-up-as-much-russian-naval-tonnage-as-russian-shipyards-manage-to-build/?sh=739a2e08652d.
- ¹²⁰ Editorial Board, "Russia Plans Shipbuilding Partnerships with China," *The Maritime Executive*, October 25, 2023, https://maritime-executive.com/article/russia-plans-shipbuilding-partnerships-with-china.
- ¹²¹ Miller, "Russian Shipbuilding."
- ¹²² Tulyakova, Gregova, Dengov, "Assessment of Shipbuilding in Russia," 113.
- ¹²³ Tulyakova, Gregova, Dengov, "Assessment of Shipbuilding in Russia," 114.
- ¹²⁴ Miller, "Russian Shipbuilding."
- ¹²⁵ The Maritime Executive, "Zvezda Has Launched Three LNG Carriers, But Can It Complete Them?" The Maritime Executive, Accessed May 13, 2024. <u>https://maritime-executive.com/article/despite-sanctions-</u> zvezda-launches-hull-of-third-icebreaking-Ing-carrier.
- ¹²⁶ Tulyakova, Gregova, Dengov, "Assessment of Shipbuilding in Russia," 112.
- ¹²⁷ Miller, "Russian Shipbuilding."
- ¹²⁸ Tulyakova, Gregova, Dengov, "Assessment of Shipbuilding in Russia," 114.
- ¹²⁹ Tulyakova, Gregova, Dengov, "Assessment of Shipbuilding in Russia," 117.
- ¹³⁰ Tulyakova, Gregova, Dengov, "Assessment of Shipbuilding in Russia," 114.
- ¹³¹ The Maritime Executive, "Russia Plans Shipbuilding Partnerships With China"
- ¹³² Tulyakova, Gregova, Dengov, "Assessment of Shipbuilding in Russia," 114.
- ¹³³ Tulyakova, Gregova, Dengov, "Assessment of Shipbuilding in Russia," 117.